## Threat Effects of Monitoring and Unemployment Insurance Sanctions: Evidence from Two Reforms<sup>\*</sup>

Stefano Lombardi<sup>†1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Uppsala University, IFAU, IZA, and UCLS

Download most updated version

 $31^{st}$  May, 2019

#### Abstract

This paper studies threat effects of unemployment insurance (UI) benefit sanctions on job exit rates. Using a difference-in-differences design, I exploit two reforms of the Swedish UI system that made monitoring and sanctions considerably stricter at different points in time for different jobseeker groups. The results show that men and long-term unemployed individuals respond to the tighter monitoring and the threat of sanctions by finding jobs faster, whereas women do not. I also estimate the effect of receiving a sanction on the job exit rates and find significant sanction imposition effects. However, a decomposition exercise shows that these sanction imposition effects explain very little of the overall reform effects, so that most of the reform effects arise through threat effects. A direct policy implication is that the total impact of monitoring and sanctions may be severely underestimated when focusing solely on the effects on those actually receiving sanctions.

Keywords: monitoring and sanctions; unemployment insurance; threat effects JEL-codes: J08, J64, J65

<sup>\*</sup>For their guidance I am indebted to Oskar Nordström Skans and Johan Vikstöm. For valuable comments and discussions I also thank Steffen Altmann, Chiara Binelli, Cristina Bratu, Rebecca Diamond, Thomas Dohmen, Peter Fredriksson, Hans Grönqvist, Erik Haking, Caroline Hall, Mounir Karadja, Paul Muller, Björn Öckert, Luca Repetto, Amelie Schiprowski, Alex Solis, Isaac Sorkin, Gerard van den Berg, and seminar audiences at Uppsala University, UCLS Uppsala, IZA Bonn, Stockholm University, University of Milan-Bicocca, IRVAPP Trento, JRC Ispra.

 $<sup>^\</sup>dagger stefano.lombardi@nek.uu.se; Personal website: http://stefano-lombardi.github.io$ 

## Table of contents

1	Introduction	3
2	Institutional background	8
2.1	Unemployment Insurance and activity support entitlement	8
2.2	Monitoring and sanctions before the reforms	9
2.3	Two reforms of the monitoring and sanctions system	10
2.3.1	The September 2013 reform for the UI recipients	10
2.3.2	The January 2014 reform for the AS recipients	13
3	Empirical strategy and data	14
3.1	Difference-in-differences (DID) design	14
3.2	Data description	17
3.2.1	Sampling and descriptive statistics	18
4	The total effects of the two reforms	19
4.1	Main results	19
4.2	Robustness Analyses	21
4.2.1	Dynamic selection	22
4.2.2	Robustness analyses	23
4.2.3	Extended placebo analyses	25
5	Relationship between threat and sanction effects	26
5.1	Sanction imposition effects	26
5.1.1	Identification of sanction effects	26
5.1.2	Estimation of sanction effects	28
5.1.3	Sanction effects estimates	29
5.2	The relationship between threat and sanction effects	29
6	Conclusions	31
A	Additional Figures and Tables	36

## 1 Introduction

Unemployment Insurance (UI) systems provide an important safety net by replacing forgone labor earnings for workers who involuntarily lose their jobs. However, just as for any insurance scheme, UI systems may induce moral hazard.<sup>1</sup> In the case of UI systems, moral hazard may arise in the form of reduced job search. In order to reduce moral hazard, and thereby be able to provide more insurance without adverse labor market consequences, many countries have resorted to the use of monitoring and sanction schemes. In this paper, I provide a comprehensive set of estimates on the effectiveness of such policies.

A useful starting point when thinking about monitoring and sanctions is to note that attempts to deter the misuse of the UI systems through such policies closely resemble attempts to prevent crime through punishment within criminal prosecution systems. In the crime literature, the terms *deterrence* or *threat effect* refer to the change of behavior due to the fear that a given conduct will be sanctioned; *sanction imposition effect*, instead, denotes the change of behavior deriving from the actual experience of punishment.<sup>2</sup> This literature has found that policies based on deterrence can be effective in reducing crime, especially in the case of swift-and-certain punishment regimes that provide salient incentives (see e.g., Weisburd, Einat, and Kowalski, 2008, and Hawken and Kleiman, 2009).<sup>3</sup> Most attention has been paid to deterrence for two main reasons: first, deterrence can directly modify the behavior of *all* individuals eligible for sanctions (not just of those actually sanctioned); second, since it can be effective also for individuals that are not directly caught misbehaving, deterrence has substantial cost-saving potential compared to the actual sanction imposition.

Deterrence is, however, absent from almost all studies in the context of UI systems. These have instead analyzed the effect of imposing monetary fines (benefit sanctions) on the individuals actually sanctioned. This paper brings together the insights of the crime and UI literatures. Starting from the idea that deterrence is central also in UI systems, I study both threat and sanction imposition effects in the same policy setting. In doing so, I provide the first estimates of threat effects of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>UI systems may also be associated with adverse selection problems, although this has been emphasized less in the literature (for an example of this see Landais, Nekoei, Nilsson, Seim, and Spinnewijn, 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Conceptually, crime deterrence can be seen in an expected utility framework where higher probability of apprehension and higher sanction size reduce the value of misbehaving (Becker, 1968). A similar setting applies to UI systems where jobseekers are monitored and a lack of job search is sanctioned with monetary fines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For reviews on crime deterrence, see Chalfin and McCrary (2017), Nagin (2013a), Nagin (2013b).

stricter monitoring and UI benefit sanctions through a quasi-experimental design.

In the context of UI systems, benefit sanctions are used to correct moral hazard problems arising when unemployed individuals are granted UI benefits. While jobseekers can insure themselves against unexpected income losses due to job separations, the UI benefits receipt is made conditional on exerting sufficient job search effort, which is monitored by caseworkers at the public employment service (PES). Inactivity and lack of cooperation may lead to UI benefit sanctions, corresponding to temporary suspensions of benefits.

Monitoring and UI benefit sanctions can be theoretically justified as being welfare enhancing (Boone, Fredriksson, Holmlund, and van Ours, 2007). In practice, however, efficiency gains can be reached either by modifying the behavior of the UI recipients actually sanctioned (sanction imposition effect) or by modifying the UI recipients' search effort through the threat of sanction imposition (threat effect). From the policy-maker's perspective, if monitoring is costly and imperfect, it is the threat effect that really matters. This is because the main objective is to diminish moral hazard in the entire population of jobseekers exerting low search effort, not just among those actually sanctioned. Despite their relevance, however, empirical evidence on threat effects is extremely scarce.

The main contribution of this paper is to fill this gap by providing credible evidence of threat effects in UI monitoring and sanctions systems. I exploit variation induced by two reforms of the Swedish monitoring and sanctions system that substantially increased the strictness of the system. For each of the two reforms, I compare the job exit rates of two groups of jobseekers before and after the policy change in a difference-in-differences (DID) setting. The jobseekers that I compare are the unemployed individuals receiving UI benefits (UI group) and the longerterm unemployed that have exhausted their UI benefits and receive activity support benefits (AS group).<sup>4</sup> Individuals in these two groups compete for jobs in the same labor market, are exposed to the same business cycle conditions, and all start their unemployment spell by receiving UI benefits. The main difference between the two groups is that AS recipients, by definition, have been unemployed longer.

In September 2013, following a pre-reform period where sanctions were almost non-existent and the monitoring intensity was moderate, the stock of UI recipients started being subjected to a considerably stricter policy regime. The reform resulted in a substantial increase in the number of UI sanctions issued. Moreover, monitoring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Specifically, AS benefits are given conditional on participating in labor market programs, whereas UI benefits are given to individuals who are openly unemployed.

became stricter due to the mandatory requirement of submitting monthly reports of the job search activity. In January 2014, a second reform introduced the same monthly activity reporting tool for the AS recipients. Therefore, the first reform allows me to estimate the effect of stricter monitoring and sanctions on the UI group job exit rate (using the AS jobseekers as controls), while the second reform allows me to estimate the effect of stricter monitoring on the AS group (using the UI jobseekers as controls). Importantly, the two reforms allow me to study the two relevant policy margins in this context: the joint introduction of stricter monitoring and sanctions, and the introduction of stricter monitoring only.

Identification of the policy parameters of interest is facilitated by the fact that all jobseekers that I sample are characterized by relatively long unemployment durations. In order to take into account the fact that AS recipients are comparatively longer-term unemployed, and hence likely more negatively selected as compared to the UI recipients, I estimate DID-duration models where I control for duration dependence non-parametrically. I additionally adjust for a rich set of time and seasonality fixed effects in order to control for differential trends that would otherwise invalidate identification. For estimation, I use rich administrative data providing information on individual-level unemployment histories at the daily level, daily benefit payments and sanctions information, and background characteristics for the entire population of jobseekers.

I find large and significant reform effects for male jobseekers, and especially for the long-term unemployed individuals affected by the second reform (21 percent increase in the job exit rate). The fact that jobseekers tend to respond later during their unemployment spell is in line with existing evidence on active labor market policies (ALMPs) (see e.g., Card, Kluve, and Weber, 2017). Conversely, I do not find significant reform effects for women, which is consistent with some existing evidence on ALMPs (Card, Kluve, and Weber, 2017; Bergemann and Van Den Berg, 2008).<sup>5</sup> I run several checks to corroborate these findings. First, I rule out the existence of differential trends by performing placebo exercises where I shift the reform dates back in time and, separately, move forward the duration threshold for the UI individuals' eligibility to transition to the AS group. Moreover, I check for and find no support for group compositional differences across the reform dates (which would confound the reform estimates). Several robustness checks also support the findings in the main analyses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>With respect to monitoring and sanctions policies, evidence from other countries does not point to a clear direction in terms of heterogeneous effects by gender (see e.g. McVicar, 2014).

The second main contribution of this paper is a decomposition of the estimated total effect of the first reform into its threat and sanction imposition effects. In order to estimate sanction imposition effects, I follow the convention in the existing literature and use a flexible bivariate duration model where I jointly model the exit to job rate and the sanction process (Abbring and van den Berg, 2003). I find a 29 percent increase in the job exit rate as a consequence of sanction imposition. This result is consistent with previous evidence on sanction effects. Moreover, results are similar in size when splitting the sample based on gender. This shows that the heterogeneous total reform effects do not arise because of different sanction imposition effects. Instead, they must be driven by differences in threat effects.

To quantify the size of threat effects, I perform a decomposition exercise where I subtract the sanction imposition component from the estimated total reform effect. To make these two quantities comparable, I adjust for the probability of being sanctioned and for the proportion of the spells duration that on average is covered by a sanction. I find that for male UI jobseekers, a large part of the total reform effect is attributable to the threat component, which accounts for a 10.3 percent increase in the job exit rate out of the total 11 percent increase due to the reform. For women, the weighted sanction effect is even smaller in size, and accounts for a negligible part of the (insignificant) total reform effects. This is consistent with the fact that for this group the total reform effect was not found to be significantly different from zero. All in all, the results from the decomposition exercise suggest that the sanction imposition effects emphasized in the literature explain very little of the overall effects of sanctions.

Despite the fact that the objective of monitoring and sanctions is to deter moral hazard in the form of violations of job search requirements, almost all studies of UI sanctions (see below for details) have focused on estimating the effect of sanction imposition on the individuals actually sanctioned. A likely reason for the lack of evidence on deterrence effects is that identification is challenging. It requires for the researcher to compare counterfactual outcomes under different policy settings characterized by different sanctions schedules and/or probabilities of apprehension. Moreover, in order for the policies to change the job search behavior of UI claimants, it is crucial that the policy differences are substantial and salient. These are core aspects of the two reforms considered in this paper.

One exception is Boone, Sadrieh, and van Ours (2009), who provide direct evidence of the threat effects of benefit sanctions. Through a small-scale laboratory experiment, the authors compare two systems characterized by identical expected benefits, one with constant benefits and the other with higher baseline benefits and a positive probability of being sanctioned. They find that the threat of introducing the sanctions system on the job acceptance probability is equal to 14.1 percentage points, while the sanction effect equals 10 percentage points. However, it is unclear to what extent these results translate into a real-world setting.

The only two other papers studying threat effects of sanctions are Lalive, van Ours, and Zweimüller (2005) and Arni, Lalive, and Van Ours (2013), which exploit within-regional differences in the rate at which warnings are issued. They show a positive correlation between the cross-PES offices variation in the job finding rate and the variation in the propensity of issuing warnings. Lalive, van Ours, and Zweimüller (2005), in particular, find an elasticity of the job exit rate with respect to the warning rate of 0.13. In a simulation exercise, both studies show relevant sanction effects (with unemployment duration reduced by almost 3 weeks for the sanctioned) and substantial threat effects (with a reduction of the unemployment rate of about 7 days for all jobseekers).

This paper also relates to a broad empirical literature on the effect of sanction imposition mentioned above. Taken together, papers in this field (almost) unambiguously find that sanction imposition increases job exit rates through increased search effort and/or reduced reservation wage,<sup>6</sup> whereas the quality of the jobs found is persistently worsened.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, since sanctions are coupled with monitoring, and often with elements of job-search assistance, the literature on benefit sanctions partly overlaps with that on ALMPs.<sup>8</sup>

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 outlines the institutional background. Section 3 describes the identification of the causal parameters of interest, the sampling criteria and the data used. Sections 4 and 5 present the main analyses results and the comparison between threat effects and sanction imposition effects, respectively. Finally, section 6 summarizes and concludes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>van der Klaauw, van den Berg, and van Ours (2004) and Abbring, van Ours, and van den Berg (2005) find large re-employment effects after sanction impositions for UI and welfare recipients in the Netherlands, respectively. Similar results have been found in many other settings, such as Switzerland (Lalive, van Ours, and Zweimüller, 2005), Denmark (Svarer, 2011), Germany (Hofmann, 2008; van den Berg, Uhlendorff, and Wolff (2013); Müller and Steiner, 2008), and Norway (Røed and Westlie, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>See e.g., Arni, Lalive, and Van Ours (2013) and van den Berg and Vikström (2014). Other studies have also found differential effects of sanctions and financial bonuses (van der Klaauw and van Ours, 2013), and for different types of unemployment benefits (Busk, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>For exhaustive reviews on ALMPs see Card, Kluve, and Weber (2017), Card, Kluve, and Weber (2010), Kluve (2010), Crépon and van den Berg (2016), and Caliendo and Schmidl (2016).

## 2 Institutional background

## 2.1 Unemployment Insurance and activity support entitlement

In Sweden, UI benefit sanctions rules apply to all UI recipients. Openly unemployed jobseekers older than 20 years can be eligible for either basic UI compensation or income-related UI compensation (IAF, 2014b). The entitlement conditions for basic UI benefits are registering at a PES office, actively seeking work, being able and willing to work at least three hours each working day and 17 hours per week, and having fulfilled a *work condition* (the person must have worked for at least 6 out of the 12 months prior to unemployment, at least 80 hours per month). Individuals eligible for basic UI benefits gain the right to income-related UI benefits if they additionally have been a voluntary member of a UI fund for at least 12 months (membership condition). Full-time unemployed UI recipients are entitled to a full 300-day period of daily cash transfers paid at most 5 times per week, which corresponds to 420 calendar time days. In the time frame considered in this paper, the size of UI payments is 320-680 Swedish Crowns (SEK) per day ( $\approx 35-75 \in$ ). The lower bound corresponds to the basic UI. Jobseekers eligible for income-related benefits are entitled to 80 percent of their former salary for the first 200 days of unemployment and 70 percent for the remaining 100 days, capped at SEK 680 per  $day.^9$ 

In the main analyses, the sample is restricted to full-time unemployed individuals that start their unemployment spell with a full 300-day UI period. This allows me to know at which duration time the individuals exhaust their UI benefits. I refer to this first group of jobseekers as the *UI group*.

After exhausting their UI benefits, jobseekers become eligible to receive activity support (AS) upon enrolling in the so-called *Job and Development Program*.<sup>10,11</sup> The daily transfers are equal to 65 percent of the previous earnings, with the same minimum and maximum levels as for the UI benefits. Since I restrict my attention

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>By international comparison, the Swedish system is relatively generous. See Immervoll and Knotz (2018) and Grubb (2000) for cross-countries job search requirements and UI eligibility criteria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The Job and Development program provides long-term unemployed with targeted activities corresponding to 75 percent of the individual's potential labor supply. After 450 days in the program, participants enter into a workfare scheme and are assigned to full-time work in low-qualified occupations. Eligibility conditions are to be unemployed and registered at the PES and (i) to have exhausted a full set of UI benefits, or (ii) to have been unemployed or in an ALMP for 14 months. Special rules apply to former participants in the youth guarantee and to parents of minor children (Arbetsförmedlingen, 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Note that the AS benefits are also given to jobseekers that participate in other labor market programs, possibly before they exhaust their UI benefits. As it is discussed more in detail in Section 3, this has implications on who is actually treated by the two reforms.

to jobseekers with full UI replacement period at the inflow, in my sample the people that reach 420 unemployment duration days are eligible to transition to the Job and Development Program. I refer to this second group of jobseekers as the  $AS \ group.^{12}$ 

### 2.2 Monitoring and sanctions before the reforms

A central feature of the Swedish UI system is that benefit recipients need to actively search for a new job. Newly unemployed individuals that register at a PES office are required to agree on a personalized plan of action decided together with a caseworker, with the goal of exiting from unemployment. This makes the right to receive UI compensation *conditional* on exerting a sufficient level of search effort.

The jobseeker's activities are monitored by caseworkers at the PES. Caseworkers inform jobseekers about the conditions for UI entitlement, the requirement of looking for a suitable job, the importance of meetings at the PES, and the underlying reasons for being sanctioned (that is, mishandling the job search process and prolonging or causing unemployment). After the initial creation of the action plan, which in most cases takes place within one month since the PES registration (Arbetsförmedlingen, 2014), caseworkers have meetings with the unemployed individuals. During these meetings, caseworkers propose ALMPs, refer appropriate vacancies, and provide counseling. Meetings are also used to monitor the jobseekers' compliance with the UI rules. Before the reforms that I study, the meetings were the only form of monitoring.

Benefit sanctions are monetary fines corresponding to a suspension of the UI benefits. Inactivity, refusal of job offers, and job quits are valid reasons for a sanction. In case the rules are violated, the caseworker sends a notification to the UI fund, which decides whether to impose a sanction.<sup>13</sup>

The Swedish sanctions system is characterized by a staircase model, with increasing sanction size for each violation of the rules (IAF, 2014b). Overall, sanctions are grouped into three categories: job offer rejections, lack of compliance with the general UI eligibility rules, and job quits with no valid cause. In the pre-reform period, the refusal of suitable job offers without an acceptable reason is punished with a 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>As mentioned before, jobseekers ineligible for UI benefits become eligible to enroll in the Job and Development Program if they have been registered as unemployed or enrolled in a labor market policy program for 14 months. This group of unemployed people is excluded from my analyses since everyone in the sample starts with 300 days of UI benefits. Moreover, since special eligibility rules apply to young unemployed individuals, I focus on jobseekers older than 24 years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The proportion of notifications leading to a sanction for the 2013-2014 period is close to 80 percent (IAF, 2014c). Individuals can in principle appeal to a sanction, but this rarely happens. The decision is taken quickly, in most cases within 2 or 3 weeks since the notification.

percent benefits reduction for 40 days at the first offense, with a 50 percent reduction for 40 days the second time, and with benefit suspension until a new work condition is fulfilled the third time. UI recipients can also be sanctioned for infringements related to violations of the UI entitlement conditions. These include unreported employment, failure to actively search for a job, not showing up at meetings, not signing the action plan, and failing to apply for assigned jobs. In these cases UI benefits are suspended until a new work condition is fulfilled.<sup>14</sup>

Two main aspects characterize the monitoring and sanctions system before September 2013. First, the per-jobseeker number of sanctions imposed was close to zero (see *Figure 1* below). In this period, Sweden was among the EU countries with the lowest sanction rate (Gray, 2003). As discussed by van den Berg and Vikström (2014), one main reason for such a low sanction rate is that the system was perceived as too harsh by caseworkers, who therefore were reluctant to use this policy instrument. The second feature of the pre-reform UI system is that monitoring intensity was rather low. Monitoring occurred only through meetings with the caseworker, which on average took place less than once a month (0.8 jobseeker meetings per month; Liljeberg and Söderström, 2017). Thus, the pre-reforms period is characterized by moderate monitoring and extremely low sanction rate.

## 2.3 Two reforms of the monitoring and sanctions system

## 2.3.1 The September 2013 reform for the UI recipients

In September 2013 a reform of the system was implemented for the UI recipients. Its objective was to improve the job search incentives of the unemployed through enhanced monitoring technology and increased sanction rate (IAF, 2014a; Arbets-förmedlingen, 2014).

A first main policy change was the introduction of a new monitoring system based on *monthly activity reports*. Latest the 14<sup>th</sup> of each month, UI recipients now have to hand in a summary of all job search activities in the last month. Typically, the reports are submitted electronically, and caseworkers should use them to monitor the UI recipients' job search effort and to provide job search assistance.<sup>15</sup> Recall that in the pre-reform period the monitoring activity of the caseworkers was exclusively carried out during meetings with the jobseekers. Importantly, the stated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>During the time frame of the analyses, AS recipients might lose the right to receive activity support benefit in case of expulsion from the Job and Development Program (due to unreported employment or other gross violations of entitlement conditions; IAF, 2014b), but this happens very rarely.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>According to survey evidence, in about 80 percent of the cases the activity reports are inspected by the caseworker within 14 days (Arbetsförmedlingen, 2014).

policy purpose of the activity reports was *not* to replace meetings (IAF, 2014a). This is confirmed by the observed meetings intensity, that did not change after the reform (Liljeberg and Söderström, 2017). Thus, the new activity reports provided caseworkers with a new and improved way of detecting violations of the rules, and led to tighter monitoring of the jobseekers.

A second major policy change was a quick and substantial increase in the number of sanctions imposed. Different factors contributed to the sharp increase in the sanction rate. First, the sanctions schedule was made less punitive with the purpose of encouraging caseworkers to use this policy instrument.<sup>16</sup> Second, failing to submit an activity report was included among the reasons for being sanctioned. Third, some notifications started being sent automatically to the UI funds (failure to show up at meetings or to submit an activity report). Overall, the aim was to make the sanction process more efficient and less arbitrary.

The changes of the sanctions system had a tremendous impact on the number of sanctions. *Figure 1* shows the total number of sanctions per jobseeker. Before



Figure 1: Number of sanctions per unemployment spell

the reform, the sanction rate was very close to zero; after the reform, the number of sanctions increased dramatically.

As mentioned above, the reform also introduced a less harsh sanction schedule. Figure 2 shows that before the reform, the average sanction size was around 20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Under the new rules, job offer refusal sanctions correspond to 5, 10, 45 days of suspension for the first 3 times, and to the loss of entitlement until new work requirement (capped at 112 days) for the fourth time. UI eligibility sanctions (including the failure to submit an activity report) correspond to a first time warning, 1 day, 5 days, 10 days, and loss of entitlement for the subsequent infringements.

days of suspension. After the September 2013 reform, the average sanction size decreased to roughly 2.5 days.<sup>17</sup> To compare the relative importance of the drastically



Figure 2: Average length of the sanctions, in days

increased sanction rate and the reduced sanctions size, *Figure 3* shows the average number of UI suspension days within the first 12 months of unemployment. This provides a measure of the expected sanction cost, which reflects changes in both the rate and the size of the sanctions.<sup>18</sup>

The figure shows that the expected sanction cost increased dramatically as a result of the new rules. This is because before the reform the sanction rate is virtually zero, and after the reform the increase in the number of sanctions more than outweighs the decrease in their size. Thus, unless jobseekers are extremely risk averse, the new stricter system provides greatly enhanced job search incentives compared to the old one. Moreover, van den Berg and Vikström (2014) find that the size of the sanction imposed is secondary compared to the shock of being sanctioned, which suggests that the increased sanction rate is relatively more important than its decreased size. This has also been confirmed outside UI systems, e.g. for the enforcement of court-ordered financial obligations (Weisburd, Einat, and Kowalski, 2008) and of probation and parole (Hawken and Kleiman, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>I follow for one year the group of jobseekers inflowing into full-time unemployment in a given month, and compute for this group of jobseekers the share of individuals sanctioned over the year. I repeat this for each inflow into unemployment month, and stop exactly one year before the first reform in order to not mix up the two reform regimes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Similarly as done for *Figure 2*, in order to keep the two periods separated, I stop summing up the sanctions one year before the September 2013 reform. Sanctions of an "indefinite" length – in practice capped at a higher bound number of days – are assumed to last their maximum possible duration.

Figure 3: Expected sanction cost per-newly unemployed



In sum, the new monthly activity reports and the sharp increase in the number of sanctions implied a substantially stricter monitoring and sanctions system. No other changes to the UI system were made.

#### 2.3.2 The January 2014 reform for the AS recipients

In January 2014, a second reform of the monitoring system was implemented for the AS group, that is the jobseekers who have exhausted their UI benefits and start receiving activity support benefits. The goal of the reform was to make the overall monitoring system similar for both UI and AS jobseekers.

Before January 2014, the AS group was only subject to monitoring through caseworker meetings.<sup>19</sup> The reform enhanced monitoring by extending the system of monthly activity reports already in place for the UI jobseekers to all AS recipients. *Figure 4* illustrates this by showing the aggregate number of monthly activity reports per jobseeker. The figure shows a first increase in September 2013, due to the introduction of the activity reports for the UI recipients, and a second increase in January 2014, relative to the second reform affecting the AS group. The second reform did not change the sanction rules, so that the sanction rate remained practically zero for the AS group also after the rule changes. Thus, this second reform implied substantially tighter monitoring for the AS recipients, with no changes in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The AS group was subject to benefit sanctions only in the extremely rare cases of expulsion from the Job and Development Program.

Figure 4: Number of per-jobseeker activity reports



the sanctions regime.<sup>20</sup>

## 3 Empirical strategy and data

## 3.1 Difference-in-differences (DID) design

In order to estimate the effects of the two policy changes, I use the rollout of the two reforms for the UI and AS groups in a DID setting. Recall that *all* sampled individuals start in the UI group (the full-time unemployed with a complete number of UI benefit days at the inflow). Out of these, the UI jobseekers that remain unemployed after 420 days are eligible to transition to the Job and Development Program and to receive AS benefits.<sup>21</sup> Jobseekers in the UI and AS groups are exposed to similar business cycle conditions and compete on the same labor market. The main difference between the two groups is that the AS jobseekers are longer-term unemployed. In order to make these two groups more similar, I sample spells with durations relatively close to and centered around 420 days, the threshold in correspondence of which jobseekers are eligible to transition to the AS group (see 3.2.1 for more details).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Despite the probability of being sanctioned is low for the AS recipients, losing the benefits is still a possibility in case of gross violations of the eligibility rules. Other reasons why the AS recipients may increase their job search due to the reform include: (i) if they value the regular submission of the activity reports (e.g. because this may enhance the quality of the job search assistance provided by the caseworker), and (ii) if they dislike being caught breaking the rules when not submitting the activity report.

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$ I refer to these longer-term unemployed as the AS group, although, as mentioned earlier, jobseekers can collect activity support benefits also if they participate in other types of programs, possibly before they exhaust their UI benefits.

The outcome of interest is the re-employment rate, that is the hazard of exiting from full-time unemployment to job.<sup>22</sup> For each reform, I compare the outcomes of the two groups before and after the date of the policy change (the treatment). The estimated parameter is the *total effect* of the policy shift, averaged across the treated individuals. Since the final goal is to quantify threat effects, these total reform estimates still need to be decomposed into threat and sanction imposition effects. The model used for estimating sanction effects is described in Section 5.1, whereas the decomposition exercise is presented in Section 5.2.

Consider the September 2013 reform that made the monitoring and sanctions regime stricter for all UI recipients without changing the existing rules for the AS group. In this case, I compare the re-employment rate of the UI recipients (the treated group) to that of the AS recipients (the comparison group), before and after September 2013. This returns the average effect of the stricter monitoring and sanctions reform on the UI recipients. I use a similar DID approach for the second reform, where the AS recipients (the treated group) are compared to the UI recipients (the controls) before and after January 2014. In this case, I estimate the average effect of the reform on the AS recipients.

Throughout the DID analyses, individuals are classified as transitioning to the AS group at 420 unemployment duration days, i.e. when they exhaust their UI benefits and are *eligible* to enroll in the Job and Development Program and collect activity support benefits. All estimates should accordingly be interpreted as Intention-to-treat estimates (ITT). The ITT strategy is motivated by the fact that the actual AS-transition is not a deterministic function of the time spent in unemployment: it usually, but not always, occurs at 420 days after the first UI payment.<sup>23</sup> This is because the unemployed may not use benefits at the full speed, for instance because they receive sickness benefits or are on parental leave during the unemployment spell. Hence, using the transition eligibility allows me to avoid using the actual timing

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ I consider both full-time, part-time and subsidized jobs to define the event of exiting to job.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Figure A.1 in the Appendix reports the distance (in weeks) between the UI benefits exhaustion and the date the Job and Development Program starts, in the raw sample of jobseekers inflowing into full-time unemployment within the time window considered in the main analyses.

of the transition, which in general is not random.<sup>24</sup> The identification strategy exploits two sources of variation: calendar time and unemployment duration. Note that spells crossing the 420-day threshold and the reform dates contribute to the identification of the parameters of interest.

The identification of the reform effects in the DID setting requires absence of differential time trends in the two groups and no anticipatory effects of the reform. If this is the case, the observed average pre- and post-reform outcomes of the comparison group can be used to retrieve the counterfactual average outcome for the treated group (e.g., for the first reform, what would have happened to UI recipients in the absence of the new monitoring and sanctions rules). By design, all time-fixed differences in the two groups are netted out.

Formally, the model is the following. Let d be unemployment duration (in days), m and y calendar month and year, and g = UI, AS the jobseeker group. Define  $D^{(1)} \equiv D_d^{UI} \cdot D^{\text{Sept2013}}$  to be the first reform indicator, i.e. the time-varying treatment variable equal to one for the UI group after September 1<sup>st</sup> 2013, and equal to zero otherwise. Here,  $D_d^{UI}$  is a time-varying indicator for being in the UI group, and  $D^{\text{Sept2013}}$  is a time-varying indicator for being in the post-September 2013 period. Moreover,  $D^{(2)} \equiv (1 - D_d^{UI}) \cdot D^{\text{Jan2014}}$  is the second reform indicator equal to one for the AS group after January 1<sup>st</sup> 2014. I estimate the following Cox model for the hazard of exiting unemployment:

$$\ln \theta(g, d, m, y) = \ln \lambda_d + \beta_1 D^{(1)} + \beta_2 D^{(2)} + \lambda_{my}, \qquad (1)$$

where the two parameters of interest are  $\beta_1$ , the effect of being in the new monitoring and sanctions regime for the UI group, and  $\beta_2$ , the effect of being subject to the activity reports monitoring regime for the AS group.<sup>25</sup> Note also that over a given

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Jobseekers that have been unemployed less than 420 days are always classified as UI recipients, including those that participate in programs before 420 duration days and hence receive AS benefits. Hence, some jobseekers in the UI group are not treated by the first reform, while others are actually treated by the second reform. The number of misclassified UI recipients due to this type of pre-420 duration exits to programs is likely low since all sampled individuals are long-term unemployed relatively close to exhaust their UI benefits (see Section 3.2.1). These jobseekers likely have little incentives enrolling in programs that confiscate leisure time, especially the closer they get to UI exhaustion. Overall, this misclassification would imply an attenuation bias in the positive estimates from the two reforms in case the jobseekers wrongly classified as UI recipients are negatively selected as compared to their openly unemployed counterparts (for instance due to lock-in effects from program participation).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>The residual variation exploited for identification of  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  comes from within month differences in the two groups, after netting out monthly seasonality fluctuations specific for the UI and AS recipients and the duration dependence component.

spell  $D^{(1)}$  and  $D^{(2)}$  can switch on and off depending on the group the unemployed person belongs to and if the reform has been implemented or not.

The job exit hazard  $\theta(\cdot)$  on the left-hand side of (1) is the instantaneous (daily) probability of exiting to job conditional on being unemployed up to duration time d. It is modeled as a function of the baseline hazard  $\ln \lambda_d$ , that captures nonparametrically the unemployment duration dependence;  $\lambda_{my}$ , a set of year-specific monthly fixed effects capturing calendar time-specific effects common to the two groups. In robustness specifications I further add  $\lambda_{mq}$ , a set of monthly fixed effects that controls for group-specific seasonality.<sup>26</sup> As explained in the next section, I sample spells close to and centered around 420 duration days. This makes the common trends assumption more likely to hold. In order to further balance trends in the two groups, I control for monthly time fixed effects, and in robustness specifications I additionally adjust for the group-specific seasonality fixed effects. Moreover, since a main difference between the two groups is that the AS recipients are by definition longer-term unemployed (and hence potentially more negatively selected over unemployment time than the UI recipients), I also non-parametrically control for duration dependence. Finally, after setting up the estimation model, I formally test for the absence of differential group trends by estimating placebo reform effects where I anticipate the reform dates to test whether they are statistically different from zero. Moreover, in a different placebo exercise I move forward the duration threshold for the UI individuals' eligibility to transition to the AS group.

One concern is that the effect of the first reform may change the composition of the controls in the second reform (since UI jobseekers are treated during the first reform and are used as comparison group later on). To formally assess this possibility (dynamic selection), I test for changes in a range of observable characteristics between the UI and AS groups before and after the two reforms.

### 3.2 Data description

I use information from several Swedish administrative registers. Data from the Swedish Public Employment Service provides information on all unemployment spells (at daily level) and rich background characteristics. Population registers from Statistics Sweden (LOUISE) provide additional background characteristics. I use the register called ASTAT from the Swedish Unemployment Insurance Board (IAF)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>The main effects  $D^{\text{Sept2013}}$  and  $D^{\text{Jan2014}}$  are implicitly controlled for through the  $\lambda_{my}$  terms. The main effect  $D_d^{UI}$  is omitted in (1), as in the DID specifications that I estimate I assign the transition to the AS group at d = 420 (ITT framework). Hence,  $D_d^{UI}$  cannot be separately identified from the baseline hazard.

to link information on the number of UI benefit days. The same register includes daily information on all benefit sanctions.

### 3.2.1 Sampling and descriptive statistics

I construct the analyses sample in the following way. First, I select all unemployment spells starting with full-time unemployment. Age at inflow is restricted to be between 25 and 50. This is done because young people are subject to special eligibility rules for participation in the Job and Development Program, and older workers may be eligible for early retirement schemes and other targeted policies. The analyses also exclude all individuals with disabilities. Next, I retain only spells with a full 300 UI days at the start of the spell (equivalent to 420 calendar time days). Moreover, I focus on spells of a duration of between 280 an 560 days, i.e. relatively close to and centered around the 420-day threshold. Shorter spells are ignored, and all ongoing spells are right-censored after 560 days.<sup>27</sup> I start to sample unemployment spells two years before the first reform of September 2013, and I include spells up until March 2015, where any ongoing spells are right-censored. This ensures that enough pre-reform observations are available to capture the pre-treatment trends through the rich set of time and seasonality fixed effects.

Table 1 shows descriptive statistics. The columns report group averages in the three periods (before September 2013; between September 2013 and January 2014; and after January 2014). All characteristics are measured at the time of inflow into unemployment. The table shows that the AS group is composed of jobseekers that are less educated and more likely to be immigrants and married. Compared to the UI group, they also have a weaker attachment to the labor market and a lower income in the three years preceding the start of the spell. All this shows that the longer-term unemployed (the AS group) have less favorable characteristics than their shorter-term unemployed counterparts (the UI group). Note that this is not a problem for the identification of the reform effects, since the DID model adjusts for all time-fixed differences between the two groups. What would be problematic are *changes* in group differences over time. However, this does not appear to be the case, since *Table 1* shows that the group differences are stable over time. Later, I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>The advantage of sampling jobseekers relatively close to the transition threshold is that the two groups compared are more similar than they would otherwise be when sampling short-term unemployed as well. One potential disadvantage is that restricting the sample to spells lasting at least 280 days might introduce sample selection if the first reform has a strong impact on the short-term unemployed, hence affecting the probability of sampling jobseekers thereafter. In the robustness analyses section, I implicitly check for this possibility by testing for compositional changes of the two groups over time.

Table 1:	Group	averages	in	the	three	reform	periods
----------	-------	----------	----	-----	-------	--------	---------

	Before		Sept. 2013–		Aft	er
	Sept. 2013		Jan. 2014		Jan. 1	2014
	UI	AS	UI	AS	UI	AS
Age	37.41	37.81	37.52	37.73	37.52	37.89
Education: compulsory	0.19	0.21	0.19	0.22	0.19	0.21
Education: secondary	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.45	0.46	0.46
Education: upper	0.34	0.32	0.34	0.33	0.35	0.33
Any child below 18	0.42	0.42	0.41	0.42	0.41	0.42
Immigrant	0.48	0.53	0.52	0.56	0.52	0.56
Married	0.40	0.42	0.41	0.43	0.40	0.42
Male	0.57	0.58	0.60	0.60	0.59	0.60
Unemployed 24 months before	0.27	0.30	0.32	0.36	0.31	0.36
Any program in last 24 months	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.03
Duration of last unemployment spell	200	221	232	253	239	260
Any program in last 4 years	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05
Previous income (past 3 years)	1658	1543	1699	1503	1763	1624
Inflow year: 2010 Inflow year: 2011 Inflow year: 2012 Inflow year: 2013	0.31 0.33 0.36 0.00	0.35 0.40 0.25 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.60 0.40	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 1.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.91 \end{array}$	0.00 0.00 0.46 0.54
Nr. observations	32,185	16,565	8,468	4,972	12,132	7,999

*Notes:* Average observables in the UI and AS groups, by reform period as defined by the two reform dates (September 2013 and January 2014). All socio-economic characteristics and previous labor market history measured at the inflow into unemployment. Previous income in 100s SEK.

formally test for such dynamic selection patterns.

## 4 The total effects of the two reforms

## 4.1 Main results

I start by estimating the effects of the two reforms by gender. This has been shown to be a relevant dimension according to which ALMPs effects vary (see e.g., Card, Kluve, and Weber, 2017; Bergemann and Van Den Berg, 2008). *Table 2* presents the estimates using the DID model presented in Section 3 for the exit rate to a job (re-employment rate).

Panel A shows the results for men. To start with, Column 1 presents placebo estimates where I shift the entire observation window and anticipate the reform dates by two years. Apart from this, the overall data structure, sampling criteria and estimated model are kept exactly as in the main analyses. Any significant placebo estimates would raise doubts on the validity of the identification strategy and the parallel-trends assumption. This is not the case, since placebo estimates in Column 1 are insignificant and very close to zero.

	Placebo period	Reform	period
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Panel A: Men			
Reform 1: Monitoring and sanctions, UI recipients	-0.02 (0.08)	$0.11^{*}$ (0.07)	0.11 <sup>*</sup> (0.07)
Reform 2: Monitoring, AS recipients	0.04 (0.08)	0.21 <sup>***</sup> (0.07)	0.21 <sup>***</sup> (0.07)
Nr. individuals	18,301	25,682	25,682
Spell duration Calendar Time FE Covariates	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark \\ \checkmark \\ \checkmark$
Panel B: Women			
Reform 1: Monitoring and sanctions, UI recipients	0.006 (0.09)	-0.05 (0.08)	-0.03 (0.08)
Reform 2: Monitoring, AS recipients	0.05 (0.10)	-0.06 (0.08)	-0.03 (0.08)
Nr. individuals	13,884	19,066	19,066
Spell duration Calendar Time FE Covariates	√ √	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark \\ \checkmark \\ \checkmark \\ \checkmark$

Table 2: Total effects of the monitoring and sanction reforms, by gender

*Notes:* DID-Cox model estimates for the re-employment rate using the data described in Section 3.2. The covariates include: dummy for any children, age, migrant status, married, education. Robust standard errors in parentheses. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.

Next, Column 2 of Panel A reports the estimates for the actual reform period. The table shows that the re-employment rate for male jobseekers is significantly affected by the first monitoring reform (11 percent increase).<sup>28</sup> The effect of the second reform is even larger, with a 21 percent increase of the re-employment rate. The results are robust to the additional inclusion of socio-economic characteristics (Column 3).

These results may appear puzzling since the second reform provides individuals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Since the model coefficients measure changes in log re-employment rates, estimates are interpreted as percentage changes in the re-employment rate when the corresponding covariates are increased by one unit. In the pre-September 2013 period, the re-employment rate the month preceding the 420 duration days threshold is equal to 0.113 (and similar for men and women).

with stricter monitoring, while the first reform introduces both stricter sanctions and stricter monitoring. However, remember that the two reforms affect different groups of jobseekers: the second reform affects the long-term unemployed (AS group), while the first one affects more the shorter-term unemployed (UI group). If the long-term unemployed react differently to monitoring incentives, this explains the different effects of the two reforms. In fact, a common finding in the literature is that the long-term unemployed tend to benefit more from ALMPs (Card, Kluve, and Weber, 2017). Another difference between the two reforms is that both the pre- and postreforms strictness of the system for the two groups is different.<sup>29</sup> Hence, we should not necessarily expect the first reform to have a larger effect than the second one.

Interestingly, Panel B shows no significant effects of any of the two reforms for women. One way of interpreting the heterogeneous effects for men and women is that gender differences may reflect differential attitudes towards risk-taking behavior. Experimental evidence have robustly shown that women tend to be more risk averse than men (Croson and Gneezy, 2009; Charness and Gneezy, 2012). If women are more likely to comply with the rules from start,<sup>30</sup> whereas men tend do so only when there is a sizable threat of sanction imposition, this can explain the heterogeneity of the total reform effects. To better understand this, the next section reports estimates of the sanction imposition effects separately by gender. This may reveal whether the gender differences are due to differential threat effects or differential sanction imposition effects.

Table 3 shows the effects of the two reforms when pooling men and women. As before, the placebo estimates in Column 1 are insignificant. Column 2 shows a 10 percent increase in the exit to job rate of AS jobseekers due the monitoring reform. The point estimate for the first reform is also positive, but not significantly different from zero.

### 4.2 Robustness Analyses

This section presents three sets of robustness analyses. First, I test for the lack of changes in compositional differences between the UI and AS groups before and after the reforms (dynamic selection). Second, I present the results from alternative model specifications to test the robustness of the main analyses estimates. Finally,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>The UI group was subject to sanctions already before the rules changed (although the sanction rate was very low). Hence, UI jobseekers pass from a moderate monitoring and sanctions system to a stricter one. Instead, AS jobseekers pass from an even milder pre-reform period with even lower probability of being sanctioned to a stricter monitoring-only one.

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$ Consistently, before September 2013, women are 30% less likely to be sanctioned than men.

	Placebo	Ref	forms period
	-1 Year	Main	With covariates
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Reform 1: Monitoring and sanctions, UI recipients	-0.006 (0.06)	0.05 (0.05)	0.05 (0.05)
Reform 2: Monitoring, AS recipients	0.05 (0.06)	$0.10^{*}$ (0.06)	0.12 <sup>**</sup> (0.06)
Nr. individuals	32,185	44,748	44,748
Spell duration Calendar Time FE Covariates	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$ $\checkmark$ $\checkmark$

**Table 3:** Total effects of the monitoring and sanction reforms

*Notes:* DID-Cox model estimates for the re-employment rate using the data described in Section 3.2. The covariates include: dummy for any children, age, migrant status, gender, married, education. Robust standard errors in parentheses. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.

I implement additional placebo checks to test the parallel trends assumption.

### 4.2.1 Dynamic selection

Identification in the main DID model relies on a comparison of the re-employment rates around the AS threshold after 420 days of unemployment. Thus, different spell segments are compared to each other (early parts being UI, later parts being AS). A potential concern, is that any treatment effects during the first part of the spells (i.e. for the first reform, the effect of stricter monitoring and sanctions for the UI recipients) may change the composition of jobseekers that remain in the second part of the spells. This creates the so-called dynamic selection problem, which may confound the estimated effects due to the changes in the composition of the groups.

To address this, I replace the outcome (re-employment rate) with observed characteristics (such as socio-economic variables) measured at the unemployment inflow. Otherwise, I estimate the DID model as in the main analyses. This offers one way of studying the assumptions underlying the DID model, since significant estimates for these observed variables would indicate problems with dynamic selection. Specifically, I regress each observed characteristic on the two reform indicators, the AS group indicator and the interaction between the two. This DID exercise allows me to compute the outcome averages for the UI and AS groups in the three calendar time periods defined by the two reforms (see Columns 1-3 of *Table 4*). For each reform, the regression coefficients on the interaction term return the difference in the two groups averages across the given reform date (Columns 4 and 6).

Reassuringly, *Table 4* reveals no significant estimates and all point estimates are very close to zero (see the *p*-values in Column 5 and 7). This is true also when considering the entire set of covariates in a joint test. I also construct a measure of predicted unemployment duration using all the observed covariates, and use this as an outcome in the same DID regression framework. The group differences in predicted unemployment across the reforms are also insignificant. All this suggests that dynamic selection is not an issue, hence supporting my main results and identification strategy.

	AS and l	JI mean di	ifferences	Period 2 vs 1		Period 3 vs 2	
	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3	Est.	p-value	Est.	p-value
Outcome	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Age	0.392	0.205	0.363	-0.187	0.214	0.158	0.354
Education: compulsory	0.021	0.022	0.017	0.002	0.783	-0.005	0.552
Education: secondary	-0.001	-0.016	-0.001	-0.015	0.133	0.015	0.189
Education: upper	-0.020	-0.007	-0.017	0.013	0.175	-0.010	0.374
Any child below 18	0.002	0.005	0.003	0.002	0.857	-0.002	0.846
Immigrant	0.048	0.044	0.039	-0.005	0.599	-0.004	0.695
Married	0.014	0.023	0.020	0.008	0.409	-0.002	0.836
Male	0.013	-0.001	0.017	-0.014	0.150	0.019	0.102
Unemployed 24 months before	0.029	0.039	0.044	0.010	0.271	0.005	0.636
Any program in last 24 months	0.003	0.007	0.005	0.004	0.246	-0.002	0.667
Duration of last unemployment spell	20.934	21.019	21.366	0.084	0.989	0.348	0.959
Any program in last 4 years	0.004	0.004	0.001	0.001	0.864	-0.003	0.591
Past avg. income (in last 3 years)	-0.146	-0.188	-0.133	-0.043	0.315	0.056	0.246
Joint significance p-value				0.4	421	0.8	892
Predicted unemployment duration	1.557	1.384	1.449	172	0.431	.065	0.793

Table 4: Dynamic selection and compositional differences

*Notes:* DID regressions for AS and UI compositional differences across regimes. Columns (1)–(3): average outcome differences between the two groups in the policy regimes defined by the two reforms dates. Columns (4) and (6): DID estimates when respectively comparing (2) to (1) and (3) to (2). Previous income averaged in the three years preceding the unemployment inflow (in log-scale). Predicted unemployment duration computed by: (i) regressing unemployment duration on all observables using period 1 spell parts; and (ii) using the estimated model to predict for all periods. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.

#### 4.2.2 Robustness analyses

Table 5 presents results from several robustness analyses with the baseline results in the first column for comparison.

In the main analyses, I adjust for general seasonal variation through time-varying calendar time indicators. Here, Column 2 of *Table 5* reports model estimates where I add group-specific monthly dummy variables, which additionally adjust for different seasonal dynamics in the UI and AS groups. Despite the second reform effect is not

	Baseline (1)	Group- specific seasonality (2)	Control for month post UI exhaustion (3)	Control for month before UI exhaustion (4)	Duration 250-590 (5)	Duration 310-530 (6)
Reform 1: Monitoring and sanctions, UI recipients	0.05 (0.05)	0.05 (0.06)	0.04 (0.06)	0.05 (0.05)	0.03 (0.05)	0.04 (0.06)
Reform 2: Monitoring, AS recipients	$0.10^{*}$ (0.06)	0.10 (0.07)	$0.13^{*}$ (0.07)	$0.11^{*}$ (0.06)	0.08 (0.05)	0.09 (0.06)
Nr. individuals Spell duration Calendar Time FE	44,748 ✓ ✓	44,748 ✓ ✓	44,748 ✓ ✓	44,748 ✓ ✓	51,607 ✓ ✓	39,253 ✓ ✓

Table 5: Robustness analyses for the total reform effects

*Notes:* Robustness estimates of the main results when using the full sample. Column 1: baseline results (spells range between 280 and 560 days); Column 2: additional inclusion of group-specific seasonal dummies; Columns 3 and 4: partition out the month following and preceding the 420-day threshold, respectively; Columns 5 and 6: sampling spells ranging in 250-590 and 310-530 duration days, respectively. Robust standard errors in parentheses. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.

significant anymore, the point estimates are very robust to the inclusion of these seasonality controls, hence ruling out that the observed effects are due to groupspecific seasonality effects.

As explained above, in the main analyses the transition of the UI jobseekers to the AS group is assigned at 420 days, without using the actual transition date (which is potentially endogenous). This comes at the cost of increasing noise, since some unemployed individuals transition to the AS group already before this threshold, and others do so after the threshold. This is not problematic for identification, since the exogenous 420-day threshold is used for *all* jobseekers, but it may reduce the precision of the estimates. Therefore, in Column 3 of *Table 5* I explore whether it is possible to obtain a stronger first stage for identification. To this end, I "dummy out" the first month after the 420-day threshold, so that the spell parts immediately following the AS transition do not contribute to the estimation of the reform effects.<sup>31</sup> This procedure returns very similar estimates to the ones in the main analyses.

The UI recipients that remain unemployed and exhaust their UI benefits eventually transition to the AS group. Here, one concern is that workers may increase their search effort just before exhausting their UI benefits (see e.g., Card, Chetty, and Weber, 2007). However, note that the DID model flexibly adjusts for duration dependence (through the baseline hazard), and this also controls for increased exit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Specifically, I add a time-varying indicator switching to one during the 30 days following the 420-day threshold and I interact it with the two reforms indicators.

rates just before benefit exhaustion. However, one may worry that these anticipatory effects change in correspondence with the two reforms. To check for this, Column 4 of *Table 5* reports estimates where the period before the AS transition is "dummied out" in a similar way as above (with the pre-420 month indicator interacted with the two reforms variables). The estimates are robust to this exercise.

Next, I report robustness analyses with respect to the sampling window. In the main analyses, all spells range between 280 and 560 days. The last two columns of *Table 5* show results when varying the size of the duration window. Specifically, I extend this window (Column 5) and tighten the window (Column 6) around the 420-day threshold. In both cases the results are very similar to those in the main analyses.

Finally, *Table A.1* reports the same robustness checks separately for men and women. The estimates show that also the main results for these two groups are robust.

#### 4.2.3 Extended placebo analyses

	Placebo ca	lendar time	Placebo sp	ell duration
	-2 Years	-1 Year	480-760	580-860
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Reform 1: Monitoring and sanction, UI recipients	-0.001	-0.006	-0.09	-0.08
	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.08)	(0.10)
Reform 2: Monitoring,	-0.07	0.05	-0.08	-0.06
AS recipients	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.08)	(0.11)
Nr. individuals	40,184	32,185	19,319	13,358

Table 6: Placebo analyses for the total reform effects

*Notes:* Placebo estimates when anticipating the reform dates (Columns 1 and 2), and when delaying the transition to the AS group (Columns 3 and 4). Spells used in Columns 1 and 2 range between 280 and 560 duration days. Robust standard errors in parentheses. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.

Identification of the reform effects is based on variation across calendar time and spell duration. *Table*  $\delta$  shows the results from extended placebo analyses where I misplace the reform dates and the duration time thresholds, respectively.

First, I study placebo effects for different placebo reform dates. To this aim, I show results when moving the entire sampling window back in time one and two years, respectively in Columns 1 and 2. The dates are moved by exactly one or two years to preserve the same seasonal structure that characterizes the sampling window

of the main analyses. The resulting placebo estimates are always insignificant.

Second, in the main analyses, the duration of all sampled spells ranges between 280 and 560 days, with the UI to AS threshold at 420 days. In Columns 3 and 4 of *Table 6*, this sampling window is shifted to 480–760 days and 580–860 days, with placebo thresholds at 620 and 720 days. Otherwise, the model structure is the same with reform dates at September 2013 and January 2014. Since at these thresholds there are no reform changes, I expect the corresponding placebo estimates to be zero. From the table we see that the point estimates are negative but insignificant, supporting the main results. The only potential issue is the size of the placebo estimates. However, their negative sign indicates that, if anything, the positive estimates from the real period should be biased towards zero.

## 5 Relationship between threat and sanction effects

### 5.1 Sanction imposition effects

To obtain the threat effect of the monitoring and sanctions regime, it is necessary to decompose the reform effect into a threat effect component and a sanction imposition component. To estimate sanction imposition effects, I focus on the sanctions imposed during the new monitoring and sanctions regime, when the large increase in the sanctions rate took place. To this aim, I sample unemployment spells starting after September 2013 and merge UI benefit sanctions to the spells. Durations are right-censored at the end of 2015. I proceed as in the main analyses, and select only spells of full-time and non-disabled unemployed, aged between 25 and 50 at the inflow. I sample only spells of UI recipients.<sup>32</sup> I do not distinguish between the different types of UI benefit sanctions, and I focus on the first sanction during the unemployment spell.<sup>33</sup>

### 5.1.1 Identification of sanction effects

To estimate the effect of a sanction I use a bivariate duration model commonly referred to as the *Timing-of-Events* (ToE) model (Abbring and van den Berg, 2003). This model is the standard approach for the estimation of sanction effects (see e.g., Arni, Lalive, and Van Ours, 2013; van den Berg and Vikström, 2014).

In this framework, the goal is to identify the causal effect of a sanction on the re-employment rate ( $\theta_e$ , the outcome of interest). The challenge is that sanctions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>Being more restrictive by selecting only those with the full amount of UI benefits at the inflow does not qualitatively change the results.

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$ To avoid misclassification, I restrict the spells so that they are least 15 days long.

are not random events. Many observable and unobservable factors may influence the sanction rate, and these factors are likely to also affect the re-employment rate. Hence, I jointly model the re-employment rate and the sanction rate,  $\theta_s$ . Let d be time in unemployment,  $\lambda_{ed}$  and  $\lambda_{sd}$  are baseline hazard functions capturing duration dependence, x is a set of determinants observable to the researcher, and  $D_d$  is a timevarying treatment indicator taking the value one after a sanction has been imposed. The model includes the unobserved heterogeneity terms  $v = (v_e, v_s)'$ , that are allowed to be correlated; each captures the effect of unobserved determinants respectively on the re-employment rate and the sanction rate. The model is:

$$\ln \theta_e(d, x, D, v_e) = \ln \lambda_{ed} + x' \beta_e + \delta D_d + v_e \tag{2}$$

$$\ln \theta_s(d, x, v_s) = \ln \lambda_{sd} + x' \beta_s + v_s, \tag{3}$$

where  $\delta$  represents the treatment effect of interest (here assumed to be constant, but it can be allowed to vary with duration d, time since treatment, or observed characteristics x).

Identification relies on the following assumptions (Abbring and van den Berg, 2003). First, individuals must not be able to anticipate the *exact* timing of the sanction (*no anticipation*). In this setting, several aspects of the sanction assignment process are unknown to the jobseeker, for instance because the actual decision is taken by the UI fund. Moreover, even if some jobseekers might anticipate the timing of a notification, UI funds typically decide upon imposing a sanction soon after they are notified. This leaves jobseekers with little time to adjust their job search behavior in anticipation of the sanction imposition. A second assumption is the Mixed Proportional Hazard (MPH) structure in (2) and (3) (*MPH assumption*). Third, x and v should be independently distributed (*random effects assumption*). The last two assumptions can be relaxed if multiple-spell data is used (Abbring and van den Berg, 2003).

If these and some additional regularity conditions hold, the model is non-parametrically identified. Note that identification does not require exclusion restrictions (the x vector is the same in the two hazard rates). This makes the model particularly appealing in this setting, since quasi-experimental variation in the assignment of sanctions is not available and exclusion restrictions would be hard to justify. Intuitively, identification is achieved by a quick succession of events. If a sanction is rapidly followed by a transition from unemployment to employment, this is evidence of a causal effect, whereas any selection effects do not give rise to the same type of quick succession

of events.

#### 5.1.2 Estimation of sanction effects

In order to estimate the ToE model, it is necessary to specify the baseline hazards, the distribution of the unobserved heterogeneity and select the covariates. I follow the common practice in the literature and use a discrete support point distribution for the unobserved heterogeneity (see Lindsay, 1983; and Heckman and Singer, 1984). To select the number of support points, I rely on the evidence in Gaure, Røed, and Zhang (2007) and Lombardi, van den Berg, and Vikström (2019).

In the simulation study by Gaure, Røed, and Zhang (2007), the authors find that the general approach of approximating the unobserved heterogeneity through a discrete distribution performs well. However, they also highlight that unjustified restrictions, such as pre-defining a small number of support points for the discrete distribution, may result in large bias. Lombardi, van den Berg, and Vikström (2019) also study ToE specification issues, but use a different simulation approach based on actual data (the so-called Empirical Monte Carlo design; see Huber, Lechner, and Wunsch, 2013). The use of data on real outcomes and covariates to simulate placebo treatment spells has the advantage of providing evidence more closely linked to real applications and based on less arbitrarily chosen data generating processes. One central conclusion is that it is important to use information criteria to select the number of support points.

Here, I use three information criteria: the Akaike information criterion (AIC), the Bayesian information criterion (BIC), and the Hannan-Quinn information criterion (HQIC). The number of support points is selected based on the number that maximizes the given information criterion. To search for the support points values, I use the same search algorithm as in Gaure, Røed, and Zhang (2007) and Lombardi, van den Berg, and Vikström (2019).

For the baseline hazard functions, I use a piecewise constant distribution (8 duration pieces). The observed covariates include a rich set of baseline socio-economic characteristics (gender, age and education dummies), regional dummies, quarterly inflow indicators, regional unemployment rate at the time of inflow, and a set of variables capturing previous labor market history.<sup>34</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>In additional analyses, I specify a more detailed set of inflow dummies (monthly) and extend the set of previous labor market history characteristics to include short-term labor mart history variables (up to 2 years before the inflow). Results are qualitatively similar and available upon request.

### 5.1.3 Sanction effects estimates

In accordance with the analyses of the reforms, I estimate sanction effects both when using the full sample and separately for men and women. All information criteria previously defined return 4 mass points as the preferred specification, for both the full sample and the split sample estimations.

Table 7, Column 1, reports the sanction effect for the full sample. Here, the point estimate of 0.291 indicates that jobseekers exit to job roughly 29 percent faster after being sanctioned. This is consistent with the fact that sanctions decrease the value of staying unemployed, leading to increased job-search intensity and/or decreased reservation wages. Interestingly, the estimated effect is very similar in size to the baseline results in van den Berg and Vikström (2014), who study sanction effects in the Swedish setting before September 2013. Overall, the size of the estimated sanction effect is large, but smaller than the effect of sanctions in other countries. For instance, for the Netherlands Abbring, van Ours, and van den Berg (2005) find that a sanction doubles the job exit rate. For Switzerland, the total effect of a warning and a sanction increases the re-employment rate by around 50 percent (Lalive, van Ours, and Zweimüller, 2005). Note that these cross-country comparisons do not take into account differences in sanction size, which can vary across countries (see e.g., Grubb, 2000; McVicar, 2014).

From Columns 2 and 3 of *Table 7*, we see that the effects are very similar for men and women: men exit to job 24 percent faster after a sanction, while the same increase is 22 percent for women. The fact that the sanction effect is very similar for men and women is contrary to what was found in the analysis of the total reform effects, where we saw large effects for men but small and insignificant effects for women (for both reforms). Thus, it is clear that sanction effects do not drive the heterogeneity in the total reform effects previously found. Instead, such heterogeneous patterns must be due to differences in threat effects.

### 5.2 The relationship between threat and sanction effects

In this section, I decompose the total effect of the first reform into the threat effect and sanction effect components. This allows me to compare the relative importance of the two elements, both for the full sample and when splitting it according to gender. Note that different aspects make the decomposition not straightforward. First, threat effects may have an impact on the sanction rate. Second, UI jobseekers were subject to sanctions already before September 2013 (although as mentioned, the sanction rate was very close to zero). Lastly, the magnitude of the threat effects

	-	-	
	All	Men	Women
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Sanction effect	0.291***	0.221***	0.241***
	(0.047)	(0.072)	(0.055)
Nr. individuals	178,843	96,824	82,019

Table 7: Sanction effects in the new monitoring and sanctions regime

*Notes:* Timing-of-Events estimates. Unobserved heterogeneity approximated with 4 mass points. Controls include: timing of inflow; socio-economic characteristics; local labor market (region, regional unemployment rate); unemployment history (up to 10 years before the unemployment inflow). Standard errors in parentheses. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.

may in principle change over the time spent in unemployment. In the decomposition exercise, I simplify the analysis by assuming constant sanction rate, by not considering pre-reform sanction effects, and by assuming constant threat effects over duration time. The decomposition is performed according to the following formula:

Threat effect = Total effect - Sanction effect 
$$\times (p \cdot coverage),$$
 (4)

where the threat effect on the left-hand side is computed as the difference between the total effect of the September 2013 reform and the weighed sanction imposition effect. The size of the sanction imposition effect is rescaled to make it comparable to the total reform effect. In particular, the weighting term  $p \cdot coverage$  is a function of (i) p, the share of the sanctioned individuals among those used in the sanction effect estimation; and (ii) *coverage*, the fraction of the spell length that on average is covered by the imposed sanctions for the subset of sanctioned individuals.

Table 8 shows that a large part of the total reform effects estimated with the DID model is due to threat effects, not to the actual imposition of sanctions. In fact, after rescaling the sanction effects to make them comparable to the total reform effects, their size becomes relatively small. In particular, when looking at the full sample and comparing weighted sanction effect and threat effect (Columns 5 and 6), the threat of being in a stricter system leads to a 4.2 percent increase in the exit to job rate, which is more than five times the weighted sanction effect.

An even more extreme pattern is found for male UI recipients. For them the threat effect (10.3 percent job exit increase out of the total 11 percent increase) is larger than for the full sample. For women, sanction imposition effects are similar in size to those of men and become extremely small after weighting them. For this group, there is no the threat effect since both reform effects were not found to be significantly different from zero.

	Total reform effect	Proportion sanctioned	Spell part covered by sanction	Sanction effect	Weighted sanction effect	Threat effect
Group	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
All Men Women	$\begin{array}{c} 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ -0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.060 \\ 0.073 \\ 0.044 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 44.23\% \\ 44.87\% \\ 42.98\% \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.291 \\ 0.221 \\ 0.241 \end{array}$	$0.008 \\ 0.007 \\ 0.005$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.042 \\ 0.103 \\ -0.054 \end{array}$

Table 8: Threat and sanction imposition effects comparison

*Notes:* Threat effects computed as the difference between the total effect of the September 2013 reform (Column 1) and the weighted sanction imposition effect (Column 5). The weighting factor is equal to the share of jobseekers sanctioned during the post-reform period (Column 2) multiplied by the average spell part covered by the sanction (Column 3).

## 6 Conclusions

This paper explores threat effects in the context of UI systems, where the job search behavior of jobseekers is monitored and lack of search activity is sanctioned with UI benefits suspension. Despite the goal of monitoring and sanctions is to deter lack of job search of all the unemployed, threat effects have received very limited attention in the UI literature.

One result is that male jobseekers significantly and robustly increase their job finding rates in response to a shift to a stricter monitoring and sanctions system. In line with existing evidence, the effects are larger for the long-term unemployed and no effects are found for women. These overall reform effects can be the result of changes in threat effects, changes in sanction imposition effects, or a combination of the two. However the decomposition exercise shows that the threat effects largely dominate the sanction imposition effects.

Overall, this study shows that the threat of sanction imposition can enhance the job search effort of the eligible jobseekers, above and beyond the effect of actual sanction imposition. It also shows that sanction imposition effects emphasized in the literature only account for a minor part of the reform effects since they are small compared to the threat effects.

## References

- Abbring, Jaap H., Jan C. van Ours, and Gerard J. van den Berg (2005). "The effect of unemployment insurance sanctions on the transition rate from unemployment to employment". *The Economic Journal* 115.505, 602–630.
- Abbring, Jaap H. and Gerard J. van den Berg (2003). "The nonparametric identification of treatment effects in duration models". *Econometrica* 71.5, 1491–1517.
- Arbetsförmedlingen (2014). "Increased search activity through clearer requirements and increased monitoring (in Swedish)". Swedish PES reports 2014.
- (2017). "The Job and Development Guarantee Programme". Swedish PES reports 2017.
- Arni, Patrick, Rafael Lalive, and Jan C. Van Ours (2013). "How effective are unemployment benefit sanctions? Looking beyond unemployment exit". Journal of Applied Econometrics 28.7, 1153–1178.
- Becker, Gary (1968). "Crime and Punishment: An Economic Approach". Journal of Political Economy 76.2, 169–217.
- Bergemann and Van Den Berg (2008). "Active Labor Market Policy Effects for Women in Europe — A Survey". Annales d'Économie et de Statistique 91/92, 385.
- Boone, Jan, Abdolkarim Sadrieh, and Jan C. van Ours (2009). "Experiments on unemployment benefit sanctions and job search behavior". *European Economic Review* 53.8, 937–951.
- Boone, Jan et al. (2007). "Optimal unemployment insurance with monitoring and sanctions". *The Economic Journal* 117.518, 399–421.
- Busk, Henna (2016). "Sanctions and the exit from unemployment in two different benefit schemes". *Labour Economics* 42, 159–176.
- Caliendo, Marco and Ricarda Schmidl (2016). "Youth Unemployment and Active Labor Market Policies in Europe". *IZA Journal of Labor Policy* 5.1.
- Card, David, Raj Chetty, and Andrea Weber (2007). "The Spike at Benefit Exhaustion: Leaving the Unemployment System or Starting a New Job?" American Economic Review 97.2, 113–118.
- Card, David, Jochen Kluve, and Andrea Weber (2010). "Active Labour Market Policy Evaluations: A Meta-Analysis". The Economic Journal 120.548, F452– F477.
- (2017). "What Works? A Meta Analysis of Recent Active Labor Market Program Evaluations". Journal of the European Economic Association 16.3, 894–931.

- Chalfin, Aaron and Justin McCrary (2017). "Criminal Deterrence: A Review of the Literature". *Journal of Economic Literature* 55.1, 5–48.
- Charness, Gary and Uri Gneezy (2012). "Strong Evidence for Gender Differences in Risk Taking". Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 83.1, 50–58.
- Crépon, Bruno and Gerard J. van den Berg (2016). "Active labor market policies". Annual Review of Economics 8, 521–546.
- Croson, Rachel and Uri Gneezy (2009). "Gender Differences in Preferences". Journal of Economic Literature 47.2, 448–474.
- Gaure, Simen, Knut Røed, and Tao Zhang (2007). "Time and causality: A Monte Carlo assessment of the timing-of-events approach". Journal of Econometrics 141.2, 1159–1195.
- Gray, David (2003). National Versus Regional Financing and Management of Unemployment and Related Benefits: The Case of Canada. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers 14.
- Grubb, David (2000). "Eligibility Criteria for Unemployment Benefits". OECD Economic Studies No. 31, 2000/II, 38.
- Hawken, Angela and Mark Kleiman (2009). Managing Drug Involved Probationers with Swift and Certain Sanctions: Evaluating Hawaii's HOPE. Tech. rep. American Psychological Association.
- Heckman, J. and B. Singer (1984). "A Method for minimizing the impact of distributional assumptions in econometric models for duration data". *Econometrica* 52.2, 271.
- Hofmann, Barbara (2008). "Work Incentives? Ex-Post Effects of Unemployment Insurance Sanctions - Evidence from West Germany". IAB Discussion Paper, 43.
- Huber, Martin, Michael Lechner, and Conny Wunsch (2013). "The performance of estimators based on the propensity score". *Journal of Econometrics* 175.1, 1–21.
- IAF (2014a). "Employment Service's notifications of disputed right to unemploymentbenefit made in 2013 and the first quarter of 2014 (in Swedish)". Swedish Unemployment Insurance Board report 2014:21.
- (2014b). "The Swedish Unemployment Insurance Act (amended September 1, 2013)". Swedish Unemployment Insurance Board.
- (2014c). "Unemployment insurance funds sanctions following notifications of disputed right to benefit (in Swedish)". Swedish Unemployment Insurance Board report 2014:23, 63.

- Immervoll, Herwig and Carlo Knotz (2018). How demanding are activation requirements for jobseekers. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers No. 215 215.
- Kluve, Jochen (2010). "The effectiveness of European active labor market programs". *Labour Economics* 17.6, 904–918.
- Lalive, Rafael, Jan C. van Ours, and Josef Zweimüller (2005). "The effect of benefit sanctions on the duration of unemployment". *Journal of the European Economic* Association 3.6, 1386–1417.
- Landais, Camille et al. (2017). "Risk-based Selection in Unemployment Insurance: Evidence and Implications". *Working paper*.
- Liljeberg, Linus and Martin Söderström (2017). "How often do jobseekers and casworkers meet? (in Swedish)". IFAU rapport 2017:16.
- Lindsay, Bruce (1983). "The geometry of Mixture Likelihoods: A general Theory". The Annals of Statistics 11.1, 86–94.
- Lombardi, Stefano, Gerard J. van den Berg, and Johan Vikström (2019). "Empirical Monte Carlo Evidence on Estimation of Timing-of-Events Models". *Working paper*.
- McVicar, Duncan (2014). "The impact of monitoring and sanctioning on unemployment exit and job-finding rates". *IZA World of Labor, 2014: 49.*
- Müller, Kai-Uwe and Viktor Steiner (2008). "Imposed Benefit Sanctions and the Unemployment-to-Employment Transition: The German Experience". SSRN Electronic Journal.
- Nagin, Daniel S. (2013a). "Deterrence: A Review of the Evidence by a Criminologist for Economists". Annual Review of Economics 5.1, 83–105.
- (2013b). "Deterrence in the Twenty-First Century". Crime and Justice 42.1, 199– 263.
- Røed, Knut and Lars Westlie (2012). "Unemployment Insurance in Welfare States: The Impacts of Soft Duration Constraints". Journal of the European Economic Association 10.3, 518–554.
- Svarer, Michael (2011). "The Effect of Sanctions on Exit from Unemployment: Evidence from Denmark: Effect of Sanctions on Exit from Unemployment". *Economica* 78.312, 751–778.
- Van den Berg, Gerard J., Arne Uhlendorff, and Joachim Wolff (2013). "Sanctions for Young Welfare Recipients". IZA Discussion Papers, No. 7630, 34.
- Van den Berg, Gerard J. and Johan Vikström (2014). "Monitoring Job Offer Decisions, Punishments, Exit to Work, and Job Quality: Monitoring unemployed

workers and effects of sanctions". *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 116.2, 284–334.

- Van der Klaauw, Bas and Jan C. van Ours (2013). "Carrot and stick: how reemployment bonuses and benefit sanctions affect exit rates from welfare". Journal of Applied Econometrics 28.2, 275–296.
- Van der Klaauw, Bas, Gerard J. van den Berg, and Jan C. van Ours (2004). "Punitive sanctions and the transition rate from welfare to work". *Journal of Labor Economics* 22.1, 211–241.
- Weisburd, David, Tomer Einat, and Matt Kowalski (2008). "The miracle of the cells: an experimental study of interventions to increase payment of court-ordered financial obligations". Criminology & Public Policy 7.1, 9–36.

# A Additional Figures and Tables



Figure A.1: Time between UI exhaution and Job and Development Program start (in weeks)

Control for month before UI exhaustion	Duration 250-590	Duration
(4)	(5)	310-530 (6)
0.12* (0.07)	0.10 (0.06)	0.08 (0.08)
0.20** (0.08)	0.20*** (0.07)	0.19** (0.08)
25,682	29,475	22,687
$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
-0.04 (0.09)	-0.07 (0.08)	-0.03 (0.09)
-0.03 (0.09)	-0.12 (0.09)	-0.05 (0.10)
19,066	22,132 ✓ ✓	16,566 ✓ ✓
	(4) $(.12*) (0.07) (0.20**) (0.08) (0.08) (0.08) (0.09)$	$\begin{array}{c cccc} 0.12^{*} & 0.10 \\ (0.07) & (0.06) \\ 0.20^{**} & 0.20^{***} \\ (0.08) & (0.07) \\ \hline 25,682 & 29,475 \\ \checkmark & \checkmark \\ \hline & \checkmark & \checkmark \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ -0.04 & -0.07 \\ (0.09) & (0.08) \\ -0.03 & -0.12 \\ (0.09) & (0.09) \\ \hline 19,066 & 22,132 \\ \checkmark & \checkmark \\ \hline \\$

Table A.1: Robustness analyses for the total reform effects, by gender

Notes: Robustness estimates of the main results when splitting the sample by gender. Column 1: baseline results (spells range between 280 and 560 days); Column 2: additional inclusion of group-specific seasonal dummies; Columns 3 and 4: partition out the month following and preceding the 420-day threshold, respectively; Columns 5 and 6: sampling spells ranging in 250-590 and 310-530 duration days, respectively. Robust standard errors in parentheses. \*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 percent levels.